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OPI NI ON
MURNAGHAN, Circuit Judge:

A federal jury convicted Def endant - Appel | ee Dougl as W I son of
unlawful Iy and corruptly obstructing and i npedi ng, and endeavori ng
to obstruct and i npede, the admi nistration of the internal revenue
|l aws, in violation of 26 U S.C A § 7212(a) (West 1989), and of
will-

fully attenpting to evade and defeat, and aiding and abetting in
t he

evasi on of, the paynent of inconme and penalty taxes, in violation
of

26 U S.C.A 8§ 7201 (West 1989) and 18 U.S.C A 8 2 (Wst 1969).
The district court, however, set aside the jury's verdict and
grant ed

Wl son's notion for ajudgnment of acquittal on insufficiency of the
evi dence grounds. The governnment now appeals the district court's
grant of Wlson's notion and argues that Wl son's conviction shoul d
be reinstated. W son cross-appeal s the district court's denial of
hi s

alternative notion for a judgnent of acquittal on statute of
limtations

grounds and his notion for a new trial. For the reasons stated
bel ow,

we reverse in part, affirm in part, and remand for further
pr oceedi ngs.

In the early 1980s, the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") deter-
m ned that Arthur Odell Rogers, the owner of several coal mning
conmpani es, owed over $400,000 in personal incone taxes and over
$700,000 in trust fund penalties for failing to pay incone and
soci al

security taxes that his conpanies had wthheld from their
enpl oyees’

wages. In 1985, the IRS began to collect the taxes that Rogers
owed,

and Rogers retai ned Def endant - Appel | ee Douglas WIson, an attor-
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ney, to represent himin his dealings wwth the I RS. The gover nnent
contends that WIson know ngly hel ped Rogers conceal assets from
the IRS in order to prevent the IRS fromattachi ng them

A

The governnent first argues that WI son hel ped Rogers conceal
stock and di vi dends that Rogers recei ved froman Al aska gol d m ni ng
venture known as Wndfall Gold M ning Conpany ("Wndfall"). The
W ndfall stock was not in Rogers's own nanme, but instead was in the
name of two partnerships, Double R Associates ("Double R') and M
& T Equi prent ("M&T") (collectively, the "Partnerships"). Rogers
was a partner in both Double Rand M&T. In | ate 1985 or early 1986,
t he Partnerships assigned the Wndfall stock to WIson.

Rogers testified at trial that the Partnerships assigned the stock
to

Wlson in order to prevent the IRS fromattaching it to pay the
t axes

t hat Rogers owed. Rogers also testified that he and WI son agreed
t hat

W son woul d use dividends fromthe Wndfall stock to pay $70, 000
in |legal fees that he owed WIson and that he and WIson would
split

any additional dividends. Charles Barnett, WIson's |aw partner,

testi-

fied that the Partnerships transferred the stock solely to pay the
| egal

fees, but that as a condition of the transfer, WIson would pay
Roger s

twenty-five percent of the dividends as a consulting fee for

services

that Rogers performed for the lawfirm Rogers, however, testified
that he did not performconsulting services and that the paynents
were his share of the dividends that WIlson owed him for the
transfer

of the stock.

During 1988, WIson nmade two paynents to M cca MKi nney,

Rogers's wife at the tinme. On February 12, 1988, Wlson's lawfirm
wired $19,159 to a Phoeni x bank account in MKinney's nane. On
May 23, 1988, WIson gave Rogers a $15, 000 personal check made
payabl e to McKinney. Rogers testified at trial that the paynents
wer e

for his share of the Wndfall dividends that WIson had received
and

that W1l son paid the dividends to McKinney, rather than to Rogers,
in order to prevent the IRS fromattaching them

Wlson testified that only the first $19,159 paynment was for a
W ndfall dividend. He further testifiedthat the paynent was nerely
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a loan. WIlson and Barnett testified that they did not want to turn
t he

di vi dends over to MKinney because there was a possibility that
W ndfall woul d require the sharehol ders to pay t he noney back as a
capital contribution. They testifiedthat WI son therefore prepared
a

note that Rogers and MKi nney executed contenporaneously with the
$19, 159 paynment that required themto repay the noney to WI son.
The note was dated February 12, 1988, and it required Rogers and
McKi nney to pay WIson and his | aw partners $19, 159 on denand.
Wl son further testified that the $15, 000 paynent was not for W nd-
fall dividends but instead was a personal | oan to McKinney to hel p
her purchase stock in one of Rogers's conpanies, H E. L. Coals. The
note was dated May 23, 1988, and it required Rogers and MKi nney
to pay WIson $15, 000 on denand.

However, Rogers and McKinney testified that neither paynent was
a loan. MKinney testified that WIlson drafted both notes only
after

he | earned on Oct ober 19, 1989 that the IRSwas crimnally investi -
gating Rogers and that W1 son backdated the notes to the dates of
t he

paynents that he nmade to her

B.

The governnent al so argues that W/ son hel ped Rogers conceal his
assets in Victory Mning, Incorporated ("Victory"). From 1985

t hrough early 1987, Rogers conducted his m ni ng busi ness under the
name of Victory. From May 1986 through January 1987, the IRS col -
| ected sone of the enpl oynent w thholding taxes that Victory owed
by, anmong other things, attaching over $66,000 in Victory's bank
accounts, entering into an install nment agreenent with Rogers for
pay-

Ing the taxes that Victory and Rogers's ot her conpani es owed, and
pl acing Victory on a "special deposit program”1l On January 30,
1987, however, |IRS revenue officer John Svecz nmet wth WIson and
Rogers and told themthat the installnent agreenment and speci al
deposit program were i nadequate and that the I RS woul d begin "en-
forced" collection and would attach Victory's bank accounts and
assets (the "January 30, 1987 neeting").

1 The deposit programrequired Victory to open a bank account in
t rust

for the United States and to deposit enpl oyee wi t hhol dings into the
account within two days of the w thhol ding.
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Rogers testified that i medi ately after the January 30, 1987 neet -
ing with Svecz, he net with Wl son and others at his hone and t hey
di scussed renovi ng funds fromVictory's bank accounts and secreti ng
themin a bank account in the name of Ml col m Van Dyke (the "Van
Dyke account™"), one of Rogers's enpl oyees. Wl son deni ed attendi ng
t he nmeeting at Rogers's hone. Later in the day on January 30, 1987,
W1 son wote a $4, 000 personal check to Charter Federal Savings and
Loan ("Charter Federal") to prevent Charter Federal from
forecl osi ng

on Rogers's hone.

On February 2, 1987, Van Dyke, acting on orders from Rogers,
removed the sum of $17,000 from Victory's three bank accounts and
deposited it in the Van Dyke account to prevent the IRS from
attach-

ingit. Wlson testified at trial that he knew on February 2, 1987
t hat

the IRS had issued |levies on Victory's bank accounts. On February
3, 1987, Van Dyke wrote a $500 check on the Van Dyke account pay-
able to Wlson's law firmin trust for Rogers. He also wote a
$4, 000

check on the Van Dyke account payable to WIson nmarked "repay

|l oan to ACR [Rogers.]" Wen the banks received the IRS |evies
agai nst Victory's accounts on February 3, 1987, only $295 renuni ned
In the accounts.

Wl son also drafted corporate docunents for a new corporation,
Synctor, Limted ("Syntor"), that woul d take over Victory's opera-
tions. Wlson testified that he drafted the corporate docunents on
Decenber 3, 1986 and that two of Rogers's enpl oyees, John Lock-
hart and M chael Stevenson, signed the docunents as the sharehol d-
ers, directors, and officers of Syntor on January 5, 1987, before
t he

January 30, 1987 neeting when Svecz told Rogers that he would
begin attaching Victory's assets. Lockhart, however, testifiedthat
he

and St evenson si gned backdat ed by-1 aws, board of directors m nutes,
and stock certificates around February 6, 1987. Rogers testified
t hat

he told WIlson to use Lockhart and Stevenson on the Syntor docu-
ments so that the IRS woul d not discover his interest.

Wl son also testified that he prepared assignnments on January 5,
1987 that transferred Victory's mning |ease to Syntor. Paul a
Smith,

a notary at Wlson's law firm testified that she notarized the
assi gn-

ments and watched the parties sign themon January 5, 1987. How
ever, the president of Robinson-Phillips Coal Conpany, which had
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originally leased its mning rights to Victory, testified that he
si gned

t he assi gnnent docunent on February 9, 1987 and t hat he under st ood
at the tine he signed it that the docunent had been backdated to
Janu-

ary 5, 1987 in order to avoid Victory's tax problems. On February
17,

1987, WIlson told Svecz that Victory was trying to sell its m ning
| ease, but he failed to disclose that Victory had al ready assi gned
its

| ease to Syntor. As aresult, Svecz i ssued additional unsuccessf ul
| evi es against Victory.

C

The government al so contends that WIson drafted additional back-
dat ed docunents for other corporations and pl aced "strawren” inthe
posi tions of officers and directors pursuant to Rogers's request in
order to conceal Rogers's ownershipinterests. First, Wl son undi s-
put edl y prepared the corporate docunents for a new m ni ng cor por a-
tion, Pandex. The docunents naned Tony Frederick and Richard
Johnson, two of Rogers's enployees, as the corporate officers
Fr ed-

erick testified that in Septenber or October 1987, Wl son told him
how to funnel noney out of Pandex to Rogers. Frederick testified
t hat

Wl son told himto wite checks to Johnson, that Johnson woul d cash
t he checks, and that Johnson woul d t hen deliver the cash t o Rogers.
Frederick also testified that WIlson told him how to nmake it
errone-

ously appear as if he had invested in Pandex.

I n approxi mately Novenber 1987, Rogers |earned that Jasco
Trucki ng Conpany ("Jasco"), another conmpany that Rogers owned,
had been used t o pay sone of Pandex's payroll and that Jasco there-
fore was |iable for enploynment w thhol ding taxes. Rogers becane
concerned that the IRS m ght assess his two sons, who were naned
on Jasco's corporate docunents, for Jasco's tax liability. Rogers
al so

want ed Johnson's nane renoved from Pandex's corporate docunents
because Johnson was al so naned on Jasco's corporate docunents and
he therefore was "tai nted" by Jasco's tax liability. Frederick and
John-

son testified that in Cctober or Novenber 1987, WI son prepared,
and

had Frederi ck and Johnson si gn, backdat ed Pandex board of directors
m nutes and stock certificates and had Johnson sign a backdated
Pandex resignation. Rogers also testified that WIson prepared
back-

dated Jasco resignations for Rogers's two sons to prevent the IRS
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fromassessing themw th Jasco's taxes. Rogers's son alsotestified
t hat he signed a backdated resignation.

In addition, Stevenson testifiedthat WIson prepared unidentified
docunents for himto signin April 1988. Stevenson testified that
W -

son told himthat the docunents would get the "alligators" off of
Rog-

ers and onto Stevenson. Stevenson explained that the term
"al ligators”

referred to the IRS

Rogers al so owned and operated Meridan of Virginia ("Meridan"),

a | easing conpany that held the equi pment that Rogers used in his
m ni ng operations. Frederick's nane al so appeared on Meridan's cor -

porate docunents. Frederick testified that in the spring of 1989,

W -

son prepared, and had Frederick and ot hers sign, backdated Meri dan
docunents. Frederick testifiedthat Wlsontoldhim " You're going
to sign in and sign out, all at the sanme tinme, of these
corporations.'"

D.

On June 8, 1995, a federal grand jury returned an indictnent

agai nst Wl son that charged himw th one count of unlawfully and

corruptly obstructi ng and i npedi ng, and endeavoringto obstruct and
i npede, the administration of the tax laws, in violation of 26
US CA

§ 7212(a) (" Count one"), and one count of willfully attenmpting to
evade and defeat, and aiding and abetting in the evasion of, the
pay-

ment of incone and penalty taxes, in violation of 26 U S.C A 8§
7201

and 18 U.S.C.A. 8 2 ("Count two"). The United States District Court

for the Western District of Virginia held a jury trial on Decenber

4-12, 1995. WIson nmade a notion for a judgnent of acquittal after

t he cl ose of the governnent's case and again after the cl ose of all

of

t he evi dence. On bot h occasions, the district court denied Wl son's
notion as to Count one and took the notion as to Count two under

advi sement .

On Decenber 12, 1995, the jury convicted WIson on both counts.
Wlson filed a renewed notion for a judgnent of acquittal on
i nsuffi -

ciency of the evidence and statute of |imtations grounds. He al so
filed a notion for a newtrial. On February 12, 1996, the district
court

set aside the jury's verdict and granted Wl son's renewed notion
for

a judgnment of acquittal as to both counts of the indictnment on the






grounds of insufficiency of the evidence. The district court denied
Wlson's alternative notion for a judgnment of acquittal on statute
of

limtations grounds and also denied WIlson's notion for a new
trial.

The governnent argues that the district court erred in setting
asi de

the jury's verdict and entering a judgnent of acquittal. W review
t he

district court's grant of a notion for a judgnent of acquittal de
novo.

See United States v. Canpbell, 977 F.2d 854, 856 (4th G r. 1992).
Ve

must view the evidence in the Ilight nost favorable to the
gover nment

and inquire whether any rational trier of fact could find the
essenti al

el ements of the crine beyond a reasonabl e doubt. See Jackson v.
Virginia, 443 U S. 307, 319 (1979). W nmay not weigh the evidence
or reviewthe credibility of the witnesses. See United States v.
Si ngh,

54 F.3d 1182, 1186 (4th G r. 1995). Those functions are reserved
for

the jury, and "if the evidence supports different, reasonable
i nterpreta-

tions, the jury decides which interpretation to believe."” Id.
(quoti ng

United States v. Murphy, 35 F.3d 143, 148 (4th Cr. 1994)). W
address, in turn, the sufficiency of the evidence as to each count
of

t he indictnent.

A

In order to prove a violationof 26 US.C A 8§ 7212(a), the govern-
ment nmust prove that the defendant: 1) corruptly; 2) endeavored; 3)
to obstruct or inpede the adm nistration of the Internal Revenue
Code. See United States v. Bostian, 59 F.3d 474, 477 (4th Cr.
1995),

cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 929 (1996); United States v. WIllians, 644
F.2d 696, 699 (8th Gr. 1981). WIson contends that the government
failed to prove the first elenent, nanely, that he had a "corrupt"”
pur -

pose. W have held that the term "corruptly,"” as used in the
statute,

forbids acts conmtted with the intent to secure an unlaw ul
benefit

either for oneself or for another. See Bostian, 59 F.3d at 479;
Uni t ed

States v. Mtchell, 985 F.2d 1275, 1277-79 (4th Gr. 1993). The




acts

t hensel ves need not be illegal. Even l|legal actions violate 8§
7212(a)

if the defendant commts themto secure an unl awful benefit for
hi m

self or others. See Bostian, 59 F.3d at 479.

The jury in the instant case heard anpl e evi dence that W1 son act ed
with the intent to secure unlawful benefits for hinself and for
Roger s.



W list only a few exanples here. First, the jury could infer that
W -

son acted with the intent to secure an unl awful benefit for Rogers
when he prepared backdated notes to nmake the Wndfall dividend
paynents to MKi nney appear to be nontaxabl e | oan paynents. Both
Rogers and McKinney testified that the paynents were not | oans.
Rogers testified that he did not sign the two notes on the dates
printed

on the notes. McKinney testified that Wl son drafted t he backdat ed
notes only after they learned that the IRS had begun a crim nal
i nves-

tigati on of Rogers.

The jury also could infer fromthe evidence presented that WI son
acted with the intent to conceal Victory's assets in order to
prevent

the IRS fromattaching them |IRS revenue officer Svecz testified
t hat

he told WIlson and Rogers on January 30, 1987 that he intended to
enforce collection and to begin attaching Victory's assets. Rogers
tes-

tified that he net with Wlson i mediately after the neeting and
t hat

t hey di scussed renoving funds fromVictory's bank accounts and
secreting themin the Van Dyke account to prevent the IRS from
attaching the noney. Wlson's intent to benefit both hinself and
Rog-

ers was corroborated by the evidence that Van Dyke wote a $4, 000
personal check to Wlson fromthe Van Dyke account the day after
he renoved the funds from Victory's bank accounts.

The governnent al so introduced substantial evidence that WI son
prepared corporate docunents with the intent to conceal Rogers's
Interest in Syncor in order to prevent the I RS fromhol di ng Rogers
| i abl e for Syntor's enpl oynent wi t hhol di ng taxes. Lockhart and St e-
venson both testified that they went to Wl son's office on February
6, 1987 and si gned cor porate docunents as the Syntor sharehol ders,
directors, and officers. Ample evidence existed for the jury to
find

that W Il son knew t hat Lockhart and Stevenson were "strawren" and
that Rogers really controll ed Syncor. For exanpl e, Rogerstestified
as follows:

Q Didyou tell Doug WIlson, "My nanme cannot be on any
paperwork at Syntor." That's the question.

A Well, I"'msure | did.



Q And why did you tell M. WIson that your nane could
not be on any paperwork for Syntor?

A Well, | had the IRS tax problenms. He knew that, too.

Ampl e testinony al so existed for thejury to find that WI son back-

dated the Syntor corporate docunents to appear as though the
parties

| ncor porated Syncor before the January 30, 1987 neeting. Both Ste-

venson and Lockhart testified that they did not sign the papers on
t he

dates printed on the docunents. Moreover, Harsanyi testified that

he

understood that the mning | ease assi gnnent was backdated when he
signed it because of Rogers's tax problens.

Substantial evidence also existed for the jury to infer that

Frederi ck

and Johnson were nerely strawren to conceal Rogers's interest in

Pandex and that W/ son prepared Pandex's corporate docunents wth
the intent to confer an unlawful benefit on Rogers. Frederick
testified

that Wl son knew t hat Rogers owned and controll ed Pandex and t hat
Frederick and Johnson were nerely strawren. Frederick further

testi-

fied that Wlson told him how to evade the IRS. Specifically,

Fr eder -

ick testified as foll ows:

Q What was said about capital investment?

A: | didn't have any noney to start a corporation, and it
had to appear as though | did.

Q Wwo said it had to appear as though --

A. [Financial Advisor Roy Debo] and [WIson]. So, there-
fore, the termcapital investnent, | had to show sone

I nvestment into the corporation to give the appearance
that | did, in fact, ow it.

Q That's what you were told by M. Debo and M. WI -
son?

A: Correct.
Q Wat was your response to that?
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A. "Wiere's the noney going to cone fronf"
Q Was there an answer?

A. Yes. The noney would conme from. . . the new corpo-
ration's general account. They'd give it to nme, | would
open a personal account at the sanme bank with the,
where the general account was, wite a check out of the
personal account, and deposit it back into the regul ar
account, and note on the check, "capital investnent."

Q@ Now, who told you about that?
A: [Debo] and [WIson].

Q@ Now, you nentioned that also there was di scussion
about how M. Rogers was going to get his noney out
of the corporation?

A: Yes.

Q What do you recall? Do you recall anything el se about
t hat di scussi on?

A. Not a lot other than it was going to be conplicated, and
| think -- [Rogers's] wife was nmentioned in the con-
versation, but | think generally in the outset that the
noney was going to, there would be a check witten to

Ri ck Johnson, and [Johnson] woul d cash a check and

just take the noney to [Rogers].

Thus, the jury clearly could infer fromthe testinmony at trial that
Wlson acted with the intent to secure unlawful benefits for
hi nsel f

and for Rogers by concealing Rogers's business activities and
sour ces

of income fromthe IRS. Cf. United States v. Popkin, 943 F. 2d 1535,
1540 (11th G r. 1991) (holding that sufficient evidence supported
an

attorney's 8 7212(a) conviction where the evidence denonstrated
t hat
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the attorney created a shell corporationto help his client conceal

t ax-

able 1incone). WIlson's testinony did refute nobst of the
governnent's

evi dence, and his witnesses corroborated parts of his testinony. He
al so rai sed serious questions about the credibility of sone of the
gov-

ernnent’'s witnesses and about conflicts between MKi nney's grand

jury testinmony and her trial testinony. However, "[w] here there are
conflicts in the testinony, it is for the jury and not the
appel | ate court

to wei gh the evidence and judge the credibility of the witnesses."”

United States v. Tresvant, 677 F.2d 1018, 1021 (4th Cir. 1982). W
concl ude that the government introduced sufficient evidence for a
rational jury to find Wlson guilty beyond a reasonabl e doubt of

Vi o-

lating § 7212(a).

B.

In order to establish a violation of 26 U S C A § 7201, the
gover n-

ment nust prove: 1) that the defendant acted willfully; 2) that the
defendant committed an affirmative act that constituted an
attenpt ed

evasi on of tax paynments; and 3) that a substantial tax deficiency
exi sted. See United States v. Goodyear, 649 F.2d 226, 227-28 (4th
Cir. 1981). The jury may infer a "willful attenpt" from "any
conduct

having the |ikely effect of m sl eading or concealing." 1d. at 228.

Ve

have specifically held that a defendant viol ates§ 7201 i f he makes

fal se statenents to the I RS for the purpose of concealing i ncone.

| d.

Intheinstant case, the government i ntroduced substanti al evi dence
that Wlsonw llfully commtted affirmative acts that would Ii kely
m sl ead the I RS or conceal Rogers's assets. Anong ot her things, the
governnent introduced evidence that Wlson: 1) prepared and exe-
cuted fal se, backdated notes to nake the Wndfall dividend paynents
| ook |1 ke nontaxabl e i nconme; 2) participated in a neeting where he
di scussed renovi ng noney from Victory's bank accounts in order to
prevent the IRS from attaching the noney; 3) told IRS revenue
of ficer

Svecz that Victory was trying to sell its mning rights when he
knew

that Syntor had taken over Victory's operations and that Victory
had

already transferred its mning rights to Syntor; 4) prepared
numrer ous

corporate docunents for Syntor, Pandex, and Meridan that know
ingly named "strawren" as officers and directors; and 5) told
Freder -



i ck how to funnel noney from Pandex to Rogers and how t o nake
it appear as though Frederick had invested in Pandex.
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The governnent al so i ntroduced sufficient evidence that a "sub-
stantial tax deficiency" existed. Rogers undisputedly owed over
$400, 000 in personal incone taxes and over $700,000 in penalty
taxes. Such amounts clearly constitute a substantial tax
defi ci ency.

See Goodyear, 649 F. 2d at 227-28 (hol di ng tax deficiencies totaling
| ess than $24,000 sufficient to uphold the defendants' § 7201
convi c-

tions).

Thus, al though Wl son's testinony refuted the governnent's evi -
dence, arational jury could have found Wl son guilty beyond a rea-
sonabl e doubt of violating 8 7201. W therefore reverse the
di strict

court's grant of Wlson's notion for a judgnent of acquittal as to
bot h

counts on insufficiency of the evidence grounds.

Wl son al so noved for a judgnent of acquittal on the ground that
the applicable statute of limtations barred the governnent's
prosecu-

tion of both counts of the indictnment. The district court denied
W -

son's notion on that ground and found that the government
sufficiently proved that Wlson commtted an unlawful act within
t he

limtations period.

The gover nnment bears the burden of proving that it beganits prose-
cution withinthe statute of limtations period. See United States
V.

Ferris, 807 F.2d 269, 272 (1st Cir. 1986). The applicable statute
of

limtations for both counts of the indictnment is six years. See 26
U S CA 8§ 6531(2),(6) (West 1989). The limtations period for a
Vi o-

| ation of 8§ 7201 begins to run on the date of the last affirmative
act

of tax evasion. See Ferris, 807 F.2d at 271-72; United States v.
Bartrug, 777 F.Supp. 1290, 1292 (E.D. Va. 1991), aff'd on other
grounds, 976 F.2d 727 (4th Cr. 1992). The limtations period for
a

violation of 8§ 7212(a) simlarly begins to run on the date of the
| ast

corrupt act. Cf. United States v. Wirkinger, 90 F. 3d 1409, 1412-14
(9th Gr. 1996) (holding that the statute of limtations did not
bar the

defendant's § 7212(a) prosecuti on where t he def endant conm tted t he
| ast corrupt act within six years of the indictnent). Thus, in the
I nst ant

case, the governnent had to prove that Wl son commtted an affirna-
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tive act in furtherance of the two charges in the indictnent on or
after
April 1, 1989.2

The governnment introduced sufficient evidence at trial that WIson
commtted an unl awful act withinthelimtations period. Rogers and
McKi nney testified that the two paynents that WIson nade to MK-
inney in 1988 were for Rogers's share of the Wndfall dividends.
Both also testified that neither paynent was a |oan. Rogers
testified

t hat he coul d not renenber when he signed the two fal se notes. How
ever, McKinney clearly testified that she, Rogers, and WI son exe-
cuted the fal se notes that Wl son prepared after COctober 24, 1989
when they first |l earned that the IRS was crimnally investigating
Rog-

ers. As noted above, the jury could infer that WIlson's action
vi ol at ed

§ 7212(a) and 8§ 7201. Since the action occurred within the
limtations

period, the district court properly denied WIlson's notion for a
j udg-

ment of acquittal on statute of limtations grounds.

V.

Wl son finally argues that the district court erred in denying his
notion for a newtrial. He argues that the district court should
have

granted a newtrial on three grounds. W address each of his arqgu-
ments in turn.

A

Wl son first contends that the district court should have granted
hi s

notion for a new trial because the jury's verdict was against the
wei ght of the evidence. W have held that a district court should
exer -

cise its discretionto grant a newtrial "sparingly" and that the
di strict

court should grant a newtrial based on the wei ght of the evidence
"only when t he evi dence wei ghs heavily agai nst the verdict." United
States v. Arrington, 757 F.2d 1484, 1486 (4th Cr. 1985). W revi ew
the district court's denial of a notion for a new trial based on
t he

wei ght of the evidence for abuse of discretion. 1d.

2 The governnent filed the indictnment against WIlson on June 12,
1995. However, W/Ison waived the statute of limtations for the
peri od

between April 1, 1995 and July 1, 1995.
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The district court inthe instant case did not abuse its discretion
in

denying Wlson's notion for a newtrial based on the wei ght of the
evi dence. As fully described above, abundant evi dence supports the
jury's verdict. Nunerous w tnesses testified regarding Wlson's
vi ol a-

tions of 88 7212(a) and 7201.

B.

Wl son also noved for a newtrial on the ground that the district
court's conduct throughout the trial wunfairly and negatively
I nfl uenced

the jury. He contends that the district court's "persistent
I ntervention”

inthe direct and cross-exam nati on of wi tnesses prejudi ced hi mand
required the district court to grant a new trial. W review the
di strict

court's denial of a notion for a newtrial based on partiality or
bi as

for abuse of discretion. See United States v. Castner, 50 F.3d
1267,

1272 (4th Gir. 1995).

The district court nust "conduct a jury trial “in a general atno-
sphere of inpartiality.'" Castner, 50 F.3d at 1272 (quoting United
States v. Cassiagnol, 420 F. 2d 868, 878 (4th Cr. 1970)). Moreover,

"the court “nust not create "an appearance of partiality by
conti nued

i ntervention on the side of one of the parties or undermne[ ] the
ef fective functioning of counsel through repeated i nterruption of

t he

exam nation of witnesses."'" Id. (alterationinoriginal) (quoting
United States v. Norris, 873 F.2d 1519, 1526 (D.C. Cir. 1989)

(quot -

ing United States v. Liddy, 509 F.2d 428, 439-39 (D.C. Gir. 1974)

(en

banc))). However, Federal Rul e of Evidence 611(a) provides that the
district ~court nust exercise reasonable control over the
presentation

of evidence and the interrogation of wtnesses in order to "ensure
t he

effective determnation of the truth, to avoi d needl ess waste of

time

in the presentation of a case, and to circunmvent undue w tness

intim-

dation and enbarrassnment." |d. Mreover, Federal Rule of Evidence
614(b) permts the court to interrogate witnesses directly. 1d.

Espe-

cially in a conpl ex case that invol ves nunerous w tnesses, such as

t he

i nstant one, the district court nust ensure that the facts are

properly




devel oped and that the jury clearly understands their bearing on

t he
guestions at issue. |d.

W son points to many exanpl es t hroughout the trial where the dis-
trict court questioned witnesses. After review ng the transcript,
how-
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ever, we conclude that the district court nerely clarified w tness
testinmony and did not inpose its own view of the evidence on the
jury. The court questioned defense and governnent w tnesses, and
t he

questions did not indicate partiality for either side. The record
reveal s

that the district court "was sinply fulfilling its obligation to
clarify
confused factual issues or msunderstandings, to correct

I nadequaci es

of exam nati on or cross-exam nation, andto "otherw se insure that

the trial proceed[ed] efficiently and fairly."'" Castner, 50 F.3d

at 1273

(alterationinoriginal) (quoting United States v. Mxrrow, 925 F. 2d

779, 781 (4th Gr. 1991) (quoting United States v. Cole, 491 F. 2d
1276, 1278 (4th Cir. 1974))). Thus, the district court did not

abuse its

di scretion in denying Wl son's notion for anewtrial based on par-

tiality or bias.

C

Wl son finally contends that the district court shoul d have grant ed
a newtrial because it erroneously admtted irrel evant evi dence at
t he

trial. Prior tothe trial, WIlson nade a notion to strike several
par a-

graphs of the indictnent from the jury's consideration and to
prevent

t he governnment fromadm tting evi dence based on the allegations in
t hose paragraphs. The paragraphs at issue relate to the § 7212(a)
charge and refer to: 1) false financial forns that WI son prepared
and

transmtted tothe IRS; 2) Wlson's participationinthe di scussion
regardi ng the renoval of funds fromVictory's bank accounts; 3) the
$4, 000 check that WIson gave to Charter Federal to prevent the
fore-

cl osure of Rogers's house and its repaynent; 4) WIson's backdati ng
of Rogers's sons' resignations; 5) the corporate docunent that Ste-
venson signed to get the "alligators” off of Rogers and onto
St even-

son; 6) the Pandex subl ease; 7) the backdati ng of Meridan corporate
docunents; and 8) WIlson's delivery of fraudul ent docunents to the
| RS. The district court denied WIlson's notion. Although WIson
objected to the district court's denial of his notionto strike, he
did

not contenporaneously object to the evidence related to the
di sput ed

paragraphs of the indictnment when the governnment offered it at
trial.

Since Wlson failed to object at trial to the adm ssion of the evi -
dence, the governnent contends that we may review the district



court's adm ssion of the evidence only for plain error pursuant to
Fed-
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eral Rule of Evidence 103(d). 3 However, we have clearly held that
nmotions inlimnewll "preserve issues that they raise w thout any
need for renewed objections at trial, just so |long as the novant
has

clearly identified the ruling sought and the trial court has rul ed
upon

it." United States v. Wllians, 81 F. 3d 1321, 1325 (4th Cr. 1996).
I n

the i nstant case, Wl son based his pretrial notionto strike onthe
pre-

ci se i ssue he now seeks to raise, and the district court expressly
deni ed the notion. Therefore, Wlson's notion to stri ke adequately
preserved the issue, and we review the district court's adm ssion
of

the evidence for harm ess error rather than for plain error. Thus,
we

I nqui re whether the district court erred in admtting the evidence
and

whet her the error affected Wl son's substantial rights. See United
States v. Lamarr, 75 F.3d 964, 970 (4th Cir. 1996), cert. deni ed,
117

S.C. 358 (1996).

The district court's adm ssion of the evidence was not error. WI -
son contends that the evidence was irrel evant. However, the Federal
Rul es of Evi dence define rel evant evi dence as "evi dence havi ng any
tendency to nmake the existence of any fact that is of consequence
to

the determ nation of the acti on nore probabl e or | ess probabl e t han
it woul d be without the evidence."” Fed. R Evid. 401. As discussed
t hroughout our opinion, the evidence that WIson objects to was
clearly relevant to the 8 7212(a) charge. The evidence nade
Wl son's

intent to secure an unlawful benefit for hinself and Rogers nore
probable than it woul d have been w thout the evidence. Therefore,
t he

district court did not err in admtting the evidence, and it
consequent |y

did not abuse its discretion in denying Wlson's notion for a new
trial

on that ground. Thus, we conclude that the district court properly
denied all three of Wlson's asserted grounds for a new trial.

V.

Accordingly, we reverse the district court's grant of Wlson's
notion for a judgnent of acquittal on insufficiency of the evidence
grounds. W affirmthe district court's denial of WIlson's notion
for

an acquittal on statute of limtations grounds. W also affirmthe
di s-

3 Rul e 103(d) allows us to "tak[e] notice of plainerrors affecting



sub-

stantial rights although they were not brought to the attention of
t he

court." Fed. R Evid. 103(d).
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trict court's denial of WIlson's notion for a new trial. W
t herefore

reinstate the jury's verdict and remand the case to the district
court

for sentencing.

REVERSED | N PART, AFFIRMED I N
PART, AND REMANDED
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